FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/27/2018 4:00 PM

Supreme Court No. 96694-0 Court of Appeals No. 49979-7-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FIRST STUDENT, INC.,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brett S. Durbin, WSBA #35781 Anne M. Dorshimer, WSBA #50363 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-0900 brett.durbin@stoel.com

Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE						
	A.	First Student's Business					
	B.	Department's Refund Denial and Trial Court Ruling					
	C.	The Court of Appeals' Decision 4					
V.	ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF REVIEW 5						
	A.	The Court of Appeals Improperly Adopted a Meaning of a Familiar Legal Term Without Any Foundation in the Common Law					
	B.	The Common Law Meaning of "For Hire" Is Not Ambiguous					
	C.	The Court of Appeals' Reading of "For Hire" Will Spawn Future Litigation					
	D.	The Court of Appeals Improperly Deferred to an Interpretation That Conflicted with the Department's Prior Administration of the Statute					
VI.	CONC	LUSION20					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s
Cases
Association of Washington Business v. Dep't of Revenue, 155 Wn.2d 430, 120 P.3d 430 (2005)17
Baltimore & A.R. Co. v. Lichtenberg, 176 Md. 383, 4 A.2d 734 (1939)
Bd. of R.R. Comm'rs v. Gamble-Robinson Co., 111 Mont. 441, 111 P.2d 306 (1941)11
Brown v. Nat'l Motor Fleets, Inc., 276 Ala. 493, 164 So. 2d 489 (1963)10, 14
Browning-Ferris, Inc. v. Com., 225 Va. 157, 300 S.E.2d 603 (1983)
Burnett v. Allen, 114 Fla. 489, 154 So. 515 (1934)13
City of Sioux Falls v. Collins, 43 S.D. 311, 178 N.W. 950 (1920)10
Consol. Rock Prods. Co. v. State, 57 Cal. App. 2d 959, 135 P.2d 699 (1943)10
Courtney v. Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission, 3 Wn. App. 2d 167, 414 P.3d 598 (2018)15, 16
Fransen v. State Bd. of Nat. Res., 66 Wn.2d 672, 404 P.2d 432 (1965)
Hunt ex rel. Gende v. Clarendon Nat'l Ins. Serv., Inc., 218 Wis. 2d 439, 691 N.W.2d 904 (Ct. App. 2004)14
Hughson Condensed Milk Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization, 23 Cal. App. 2d 281, 73 P.2d 290 (1937)1
Irwin v. Rogers, 91 Wash. 284, 157 P. 690 (1916)
Kroger Grocery & Baking Co. v. City of Cynthiana, 240 Ky. 701, 42 S.W.2d 904 (Ct. App. 1931)10

Maley v. Children's Bus Serv., Inc., 203 Misc. 559, 117 N.Y.S.2d 888 (Sup. Ct. 1952), aff'd, 282 A.D. 920, 125 N.Y.S.2d 643 (1953)
McGinn v. N. Coast Stevedoring Co., 149 Wash. 1, 270 P. 113 (1928)
McKenna v. Harrison Memorial Hospital, 92 Wn. App. 119, 960 P.2d 486 (1998)
Michigan Consolidated Gas Co. v. Sohio Petroleum Co., 321 Mich. 102, 32 N.W.2d 353 (1948)10
N.Y. Life Ins. Co. v. Jones, 86 Wn.2d 44, 541 P.2d 989 (1975)
Nat'l Serv-All, Inc. v. Ind. Dep't of State Rev., 644 N.E.2d 954 (Ind. T.C. 1994)10
Nebinger v. Md. Cas. Co., 312 N.J. Super. 400, 711 A.2d 985 (App. Div. 1998)11
Overlake Hosp. Ass' v. Dep't of Health of State of Wash., 170 Wn.2d 43, 239 P.3d 1095 (2010)19
Ralph v. State Dep't of Nat. Res., 182 Wn.2d 242, 343 P.3d 342 (2014)
Rountree v. State Corp. Comm'n, 1936-NMSC-019, 40 N.M. 152, 56 P.2d 112110
Sheffield v. Lovering, 51 Ga. App. 353, 180 S.E. 523 (1935)13
Short Line, Inc. v. Quinn, 298 Mass. 360, 10 N.E.2d 112 (1937)13
Skamania Cty. v. Columbia River Gorge Comm'n, 144 Wn.2d 30, 26 P.3d 241 (2001)19
Smith v. New Way Lumber Co., 84 S.W.2d 1104 (Tex. Civ. App. 1935), writ granted (Nov. 13, 1935), aff'd, 128 Tex. 173, 96 S.W.2d 282 (1936)
State v. Dixon, 78 Wn.2d 796, 479 P.2d 931 (1971)
State v. Harris, 69 Wn.2d 928, 421 P.2d 662 (1966)

Surface Transportation Corp. of New York v. Reservoir Bus Lines, Inc., 271 A.D. 556, 67 N.Y.S.2d 135 (1946)12, 13
Statutes
RCW 11.84.010
RCW 82.04.310(1)
RCW 82.16.010 passin
RCW 82.16.010(6)
RCW 82.16.010(12)5, 15
RCW ch. 82.16
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4)
Regulations
WAC 458-20-180 passin
WAC 458-20-180(5)
Other Authorities
1 Lewis' Sutherland Statutory Construction (2d Ed.) § 398
Black's Law Dictionary passin
City of Selah, RFP for Transit Services (Sept. 29, 2017), https://selahwa.gov/blog/2017 /09/29/rfp-transit- services/
Laws of 1955, ch. 389, § 28(9)
Michael Sean Quinn, Argument and Authority in Common Law Advocacy and Adjudication: An Irreducible Pluralism of Principles, 74 ChiKent L. Rev. 655, 683 (1999)
/ /

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

This statutory interpretation case arises out of Washington State's tax laws and is likely to have wide-ranging effects. The Court of Appeals held that the transportation services provided by Petitioner First Student, Inc. ("First Student") are not provided "for hire," as that undefined term is used in RCW 82.16.010(6). In so ruling, the court committed fundamental error on a matter of substantial public interest. Under controlling Washington Supreme Court precedent, the meaning of a legal term that is undefined in a statute is determined by the familiar legal meaning the term has in the common law. Although the Court of Appeals acknowledged this principle, slip op. at 10, it ignored the familiar usage of "for hire" in the common law in favor of the Department of Revenue's ("Department") proposed interpretation, which came from a strained reading of an archaic entry in Black's Law Dictionary. Relying on the facial dictionary definition without considering the case law underpinning the definition, and ignoring the clear common law meaning, the Court of Appeals adopted a reading of "for hire" that is contrary to the familiar legal meaning.

The Court of Appeals reached this conclusion even as it agreed that other uses of the term "for hire" within the same statute are not consistent with the definition it adopted. A-12. With its ruling, the Court of Appeals opened the door for future litigants to argue that the meaning of the term "for hire," which was previously well defined in the common

¹ Hereinafter referred to with pagination from Appendix A, attached.

law, is now mutable and must be determined on a case-by-case basis.

Considering that 125 statutes and 84 administrative regulations in

Washington use the term "for hire," the Court of Appeals has opened a

wide door. Moreover, the Court of Appeals' improper statutory

interpretation, in a published opinion, will cast general doubt and

confusion as to whether a single dictionary definition, unsupported by the

common law, may supplant the established common law usage of any

familiar legal term that is undefined in a Washington statute.

This Court should accept review, and confirm the rule that until and unless the Washington Supreme Court overrules its own precedent, neither the Department nor the courts may adopt a reading of a familiar legal term that has no support in the common law.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

First Student seeks review of the published decision in *First*Student, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, No. 49979-7-II, issued by the Court of Appeals, on November 27, 2018. The Opinion upheld the Department's assessment of B&O tax on First Student's transportation services. A copy of the Opinion and order on reconsideration is in Appendix A, pages A-1 through A-19. A copy of the order denying First Student's motion for reconsideration is in Appendix B, page B-1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When interpreting an undefined statutory term with a familiar legal meaning, may a court adopt a reading of a legal dictionary definition that conflicts with the meaning found in common law?

2. Must courts give deference to an agency's post hoc rationale, when the rationale is inconsistent with the agency's prior contemporaneous interpretation and administration of the statute?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. First Student's Business.

First Student is a transportation company that provides transportation services for compensation to organizations including school districts, youth groups, summer camps, and churches. CP 30 ¶ 3; CP 30-31 ¶ 6; CP 35; CP 50. Because First Student is in the business of operating vehicles to transport passengers for compensation, it is registered as a carrier with both the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission and the U.S. Department of Transportation. CP 31 ¶¶ 10 & 12; CP 56-57. The Department admits that First Student was "in the business of operating vehicles that transported passengers" and received compensation for transporting students as passengers. CP 26-27 (Requests for Admission Nos. 3-5). Between 1990 and 2014, First Student paid B&O taxes on its transportation services. CP 110-11.

B. Department's Refund Denial and Trial Court Ruling.

First Student filed refund requests with the Department, seeking refunds of overpaid B&O taxes for the tax periods between December 1, 2008 and December 31, 2014. CP 21. First Student asserted that the Department should tax it under the Public Utility Tax ("PUT") classifications as opposed to the B&O tax classification, and that the Department's exclusion of school bus operators from the PUT classifications in WAC 458-20-180 ("Rule 180") is inconsistent with the

statute. CP at 128-29. In November 2015, the Department denied First Student's refund request, refusing to explain how Rule 180 is consistent with the statute. CP 22. The Department also, without explanation, denied First Student's petition for reconsideration. CP 11.

First Student then timely filed the current refund action challenging the Department's determination and filed a motion for summary judgment. CP 9; CP 58. In response, the Department asserted, for the first time, that Rule 180's school bus exclusion was consistent with the statute because the services First Student provided to school districts were not provided "for hire." CP 142-44.

The trial court granted summary judgment for the Department, concluding that the term "for hire" required compensation for the service to be provided on a per-passenger basis. CP 287. The trial court also denied First Student's motion for reconsideration. CP 311, 313.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's summary judgment order. First, it determined that the legal or technical meaning of the term "for hire" at the time the statute was drafted contemplated that the passengers must be directly responsible for any compensation paid and held that the term "for hire" is ambiguous. A-10, A-13. Second, because the court determined that the term is ambiguous, it held that the Department's interpretation of the term was entitled to deference and adopted the Department's position. A-17. Both First Student and the Department filed timely motions for reconsideration. The Court of

Appeals denied First Student's motion and granted the Department's motion, amending the Opinion to delete a footnote. First Student now seeks review by the Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals erred by adopting a reading of a familiar legal term that is unsupported by the common law, contrary to controlling Washington case law. The Court of Appeals even acknowledged that the reading of "for hire" it adopted was inconsistent with the use of the term in other PUT classifications within the same statute. A-12, A-13. The fact that the term "for hire" is used in over 125 RCWs and 84 WACs across a wide variety of subject matters demonstrates that this error raises an issue of substantial public importance. For these reasons, the petition should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

Anyone in the business of operating any vehicle in the conveyance of persons or property "for hire" either as a "motor transportation business" or a "urban transportation business" falls under the PUT classifications and is exempt from B&O tax. RCW 82.16.010(6), (12); WAC 458-20-180(5).

² "Motor transportation business" is defined as "the business (except urban transportation business) of operating any motor propelled vehicle by which persons or property of others are conveyed *for hire*." RCW 82.16.010(6) (emphasis added).

³ "Urban transportation business" is defined as "the business of operating any vehicle for public use in the conveyance of persons or property for hire, insofar as (a) operating entirely within the corporate limits of any city or town, or within five miles of the corporate limits thereof.... Included herein, but without limiting the scope hereof, is the business of operating passenger vehicles of every type...." RCW 82.16.010(12) (emphasis added).

⁴ See RCW 82.04.310(1) (B&O tax "does not apply to any person in respect to a business activity with respect to which tax liability is specifically imposed under the provisions of chapter 82.16 RCW").

The Department contends that Rule 180 properly excludes school buses from the PUT. WAC 458-20-180(5). However, the express statutory exclusion on which the school bus provision in Rule 180 was originally based was superseded by statute many years ago. ⁵ To salvage its position, the Department argued at summary judgment that Rule 180's school bus exclusion is consistent with the statute because school bus operators do not provide transportation "for hire," which is one of the elements of the statute. CP 142-44. Under the Department's theory, transportation services are not provided "for hire" unless the passengers themselves pay for the service. *Id.* Accordingly, because school children themselves do not pay for the transportation service, school bus services were not provided "for hire." CP 143-44. The sole authority cited to support the Department's position was the definition of "for hire" in the 1951 version of *Black's* Law Dictionary, which made an oblique reference to "a reward or stipend, to be paid by such passengers." CP 143.

The Court of Appeals should have rejected the Department's position. Instead, the Court of Appeals construed the legal term based solely on a strained reading of this definition, without any foundation in the common law, and concluded that the term was ambiguous. Further, the Court of Appeals' published opinion is internally inconsistent,

⁵ Rule 180 properly excluded school buses from the "highway transportation" classification under the pre-1955 versions of RCW 82.16.010. However, after the Legislature amended a definition used in RCW 82.16.010 in 1955 to broaden its scope to included anyone "operating any motor propelled vehicle by which persons or property of others are conveyed for hire" (Laws of 1955, ch. 389, § 28(9) (emphasis added)), the Department amended Rule 180 to recognize the change for taxicabs, but not school buses. See Washington State Tax Commission Rule 180 (1955) (stating that "highway transportation" and "urban transportation" include the business of operating taxicabs, but not school buses), CP 363.

determining, without explanation, that the Department's definition of "for hire" applied only to the portion of the statute at issue in this case and not to the other uses of "for hire" in the same statute. A-13. The Court of Appeals thus opened the door for future litigants to argue that the term "for hire" is mutable, consequently presenting issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

A. The Court of Appeals Improperly Adopted a Meaning of a Familiar Legal Term Without Any Foundation in the Common Law.

The Court of Appeals relied on the solitary *Black's Law Dictionary* definition to determine that the term "for hire" at the time the statute was adopted "contemplated that the 'passengers' would be directly responsible for any compensation paid." A-10. However, a strained reading of a single legal dictionary definition that is inconsistent with case law cannot dictate the meaning of a familiar legal term.

Under established Washington law, the meaning of well-known legal terms used in statutes is derived from the meaning that such terms have at common law. "[I]t is presumed that the legislature intended [the term] to mean what it was understood to mean at common law." Ralph v. State Dep't of Nat. Res., 182 Wn.2d 242, 248, 343 P.3d 342 (2014) (citing N.Y. Life Ins. Co. v. Jones, 86 Wn.2d 44, 47, 541 P.2d 989 (1975)). This concept stretches back to 1916 where it was adopted from Lewis' Sutherland Statutory Construction (2d ed.)⁶ and is closely followed by the

⁶ See Irwin v. Rogers, 91 Wash. 284, 287, 157 P. 690 (1916) ("Where a statute uses a word which is well known and has a definite sense at common law or in the written law, without defining it, it will be presumed to be used in that sense, and will be

courts.⁷ Common law is established by case holdings. See, e.g., McGinn v. N. Coast Stevedoring Co., 149 Wash. 1, 12, 270 P. 113 (1928) ("[W]e are ourselves bound by our own precedents in administering the common law.").⁸

The Court of Appeals, in prior published opinions, properly determined the common law meaning of legal terms by looking only to the holdings of cases. The Court of Appeals' opinion in *McKenna v. Harrison Memorial Hospital* is instructive on this point. 92 Wn. App. 119, 960 P.2d 486 (1998). In *McKenna*, the Court of Appeals examined whether a hospital was a "provider of professional services." 92 Wn. App. at 121. Because the statute did not define the term, the court looked to the common law to determine whether a hospital was a "provider of professional services." *Id.* at 122.

The *McKenna* court examined holdings in two different cases addressing whether hospitals sell products or provide services. *Id.* at 124. In the previous cases, the hospitals were held to be providing services and not selling the blood products and supplies they provided to patients as

so construed unless it clearly appears that it was not so intended.' 1 Lewis' Sutherland Statutory Construction (2d Ed.) § 398.").

⁷ See N.Y. Life Ins. Co., 86 Wn.2d at 47 ("Words of a statute not particularly defined are to be given their ordinary, everyday meaning. If the legislature uses a term well known to the common law, it is presumed that the legislature intended it to mean what it was understood to mean at common law."); State v. Dixon, 78 Wn.2d 796, 804, 479 P.2d 931 (1971) (same language); Fransen v. State Bd. of Nat. Res., 66 Wn.2d 672, 674-75, 404 P.2d 432 (1965) ("[W]hen the legislature uses a term without defining it, such term being well known (sic) to the common law and there given definite meaning, it will be presumed that the legislature used the word in the sense in which it was understood at common law.").

⁸ See also Michael Sean Quinn, Argument and Authority in Common Law Advocacy and Adjudication: An Irreducible Pluralism of Principles, 74 Chi.-Kent L. Rev. 655, 683 (1999) ("So far as common law causes of action are concerned, the foundation of legal rights and legal duties is precedent.").

part of their medical treatment. *Id.* The case holdings turned on the fact that patients go to a hospital to obtain medical treatment (a service), not to purchase products, whether it be bandages, iodine, or blood. *Id.* Because the case holdings did not distinguish between the type of product being provided to the patient, the type of product was irrelevant to the *McKenna* court in determining the scope of the common law meaning of the term "provider of professional services."

The Washington Supreme Court also determines the common law meaning of legal terms by looking only to the holdings of cases, ignoring any non-binding dicta. In *New York Life Insurance*, the question before the court was whether second-degree felony murder constitutes a "willful" killing of another person. *N.Y. Life Ins. Co.*, 86 Wn.2d at 46. The *New York Life Insurance* court looked to its own holding in *State v. Harris*, 69 Wn.2d 928, 421 P.2d 662 (1966), which held that second-degree felony murder did not require proof of an intent to kill. *N.Y. Life Ins. Co.*, 86 Wn.2d at 48. The case holding turned on willfulness or intent to kill—it was immaterial that *Harris* concerned the felony-murder rule whereas *New York Life Insurance* concerned a statutory ban on the payout of a life insurance policy under RCW 11.84.010. Because the case holding in *Harris* did not contain details of the particular facts of the case, such details were irrelevant to the *New York Life Insurance* court.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals ignored the common law usage of the term. The Court of Appeals determined that a "fair reading" of "for hire" in *Black's Law Dictionary* contained the limitation that the

"passengers' would be directly responsible for any compensation paid."

A-10. In doing so, the Court of Appeals completely ignored the fact that this limitation can be found nowhere in the common law.

The Court of Appeals based this "fair reading" solely on the 1951 Black's Law Dictionary definition of "for hire." Id. However, none of the case law supporting the Black's Law Dictionary definition or cited by the Department in its briefs makes such a distinction. The Black's Law Dictionary definition is copied from a section of Michigan Consolidated Gas Co. v. Sohio Petroleum Co., 321 Mich. 102, 32 N.W.2d 353, 355 (1948), which quotes a passage from City of Sioux Falls v. Collins, 43 S.D. 311, 178 N.W. 950, 951 (1920). Neither case involved the transportation of passengers, and therefore, neither case could have held that the term "for hire or reward" turned on whether the passengers themselves paid for the transportation. Any statements in these cases regarding the term "for hire" in the context of transporting passengers were pure dicta. In fact, no case citing City of Sioux Falls has ever involved the transportation of passengers. ¹⁰

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