I. INTRODUCTION 

This is a straightforward statutory interpretation case about the 

taxation of school bus operators. For more than 80 years, school bus 

operators providing transportation services to school districts have been 

taxed under the service classification of the Business and Occupation 

(B&O) tax. During that entire time, the Department of Revenue's rules 

have consistently recognized that the B&O tax applies to school bus 

operators. And for the first 20-plus years that First Student, Inc. and its 

predecessor provided school bus transportation services in Washington, 

they paid without protest B&O tax on their revenues from providing 

transportation services to school districts. Notwithstanding this history, 

First Student now argues that statutory amendments in 1955, which added 

the term "for hire" to certain definitions in the Public Utility Tax (PUT) 

chapter, changed how the Legislature intended to tax school bus operators. 

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this argument under basic 

statutory construction principles. 

Contrary to the impression First Student seeks to create, that the 
' 

Court of Appeals adopted a sweeping definition of "for hire" with wide

ranging effects, the Court of Appeals merely concluded that the term "for 

hire" as used in two PUT statutory definitions is ambiguous. It resolved 

that ambiguity by affording great weight to the Department's 
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contemporaneously adopted rules providing that the B&O tax applies to 

school bus operators; an interpretation to which the Legislature has long 

acquiesced. Nothing in the Court's decision conflicts with any appellate 

decision or raises an issue of substantial public importance warranting 

review. This Court has repeatedly instructed courts to evaluate dictionary 

definitions to ascertain the plain meaning of an undefined statutory term. 

Further guidance is not necessary on that well-established principle. The 

Court should deny review of the well-reasoned Court of Appeals decision. 

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Is the term "for hire" in the "motor transportation business" and 

"urban transportation business" definitions in RCW 82.16.010(6) and (10) 

ambiguous and, if so, did the Court of Appeals properly afford deference 

to the Department's contemporaneous interpretation, to which the 

Legislature has acquiesced for over 60 years? 

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE 

First Student contracts with school districts in Washington to 

provide school bus transportation services. CP 35 (Contract between First 

Student and Vashon Island School District). Under these contracts, First 

Student provides districts with transportation service, by providing labor, 

school buses, bus maintenance, and materials and supplies. Id. First 

Student invoices school districts monthly for the services it has provided 
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during the preceding month, according to an agreed-upon rate schedule. 

CP 43-44. Since 1990, First Student and its predecessor Laidlaw have paid 

B&O taxes on the revenue received for providing school bus 

transportation services to school districts. CP 110-11. 

In 2013, First Student requested the Department issue a letter 

ruling specifying the proper tax classification for revenue it received from 

school districts in exchange for transportation services. CP 127. 

Specifically, First Student asked the Department to rule that revenue from 

operating set school bus routes and transporting students for extra

curricular activities is subject to the PUT under the motor transportation or 

urban transportation classifications.1 CP 131. The Department issued a 

letter ruling confirming that school bus operators should continue to report 

1 The current definitions in RCW 82.16.010 for "motor transportation business" 
and "urban transportation business" provide in relevant part: 

(6) "Motor transportation business" means the business (except urban 
transportation business) of operating any motor propelled vehicle by which persons or 
property of others are conveyed for hire, and includes, but is not limited to, the operation 
of any motor propelled vehicle as an auto transportation company ( except urban 
transportation business), common carrier, or contract carrier as defined by RCW 
81.68.010 and 81.80.010. 

(12) "Urban transportation business" means the business of operating any 
vehicle for public use in the conveyance of persons or property for hire, insofar as (a) 
operating entirely within the corporate limits of any city or town, or within five miles of 
the corporate limits thereof, or (b) operating entirely within and between cities and towns 
whose corporate limits are not more than five miles apart or within five miles of the 
corporate limits of either thereof. Included herein, but without limiting the scope hereof, 
is the business of operating passenger vehicles of every type and also the business of 
operating cartage, pickup, or delivery services, including in such services the collection 
and distribution of property arriving from or destined to a point within or without the 
state, whether or not such collection or distribution be made by the person performing a 
local or interstate line-haul of such property. 
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their income under the B&O tax,in accordance with WAC 458-20-224 

(Rule 224) and WAC 458-20-180 (Rule 180). CP 134. The ruling 

explained that the Department had revisited the issue because of First 

Student's request, but was not "at this time changing [its] policy on the 

issue." CP 135. On administrative review, the Department denied First 

Student's request, again declining to disturb the State's longstanding 

practice of taxing school bus operators under the B&O tax's "other 

business or service" classification, RCW 82.04.290(2). CP 108. 

First Student then filed a tax refund action in Thurston County 

Superior Court. CP 6. The trial court granted summary judgment for the 

Department, concluding First Student's income under contracts with 

school districts is properly taxed under the B&O tax, not the PUT. CP 

316-17. The Court of Appeals affirmed. First Student, Inc. v. Dep 't of 

Revenue, 4 Wn. App. 2d 857,859,423 P.3d 921 (2018) ("Concluding that 

the term 'for hire' is ambiguous, and the Department's interpretation is 

entitled to great weight, we affirm."). 

IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW 

The Court of Appeals decision did nothing more than maintain the 

80-year history of taxing school bus operators under the B&O tax. It did 

so after a careful analysis of the parties' arguments, ultimately concluding 

that the Department's longstanding taxation of school bus operators was 
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an appropriate interpretation of the statutes at issue. This Court should 

decline First Student's invitation to substitute its modem judgment for the 

contemporaneous determination of the Tax Commission (predecessor to 

the Department), the agency best suited to understand and accomplish the 

Legislature's intent. 

The United States Supreme Court has recently cautioned against 

courts substituting modem definitions to old statutory terms: 

[I]t' s a "fundamental canon of statutory construction" that 
words generally should be interpreted as taking their 
ordinary meaning at the time Congress enacted the statute .. 
. . After all, if judges could freely invest old statutory terms 
with new meanings, we would risk amending legislation 
outside the "single, finely wrought and exhaustively 
considered, procedure" the Constitution commands. We 
would risk, too, upsetting reliance interests in the settled 
meaning of a statute. 

New Prime Inc. v. Oliviera, No. 17-340, slip op. at 6-7 (U.S. Jan. 15, 

2019) (internal citations omitted) . 

. Nothing in the legislative history of the PUT definitions suggests 

an intent to include school bus operators within the businesses taxed under 

the PUT. Instead, the legislative history, and the Department's 

longstanding administrative interpretation, strongly support the opposite. 

In evaluating First Student's argument that the Legislature changed 

the taxation of school bus operators in 1955 by adding the term "for hire" 

to the PUT definition of "highway transportation business," the Court of 
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Appeals applied this Court's routine guidance on legislative intent. First 

Student, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 865-71 (discussing and applying Cashmere 

Valley Bankv. Dep'tof Revenue, 181 Wn.2d 622,631,334 P.3d 1100 

(2014) andDep'tofEcologyv. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 

12, 43 P .3d 4 (2002), among others). In the absence of a statutory 

definition or a Washington case defining the term "for hire," the Court 

reviewed relevant dictionary definitions of the term "for hire" and the 

statutory context, including related provisions, amendments to the 

provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. Id. 

Concluding the term was ambiguous, the Court gave great weight 

to the Department's longstanding interpretation, established in 

contemporaneously adopted rules, setting forth the proper taxation of 

school bus operators. Its decision merely continued the longstanding status 

quo as to the taxation of school bus operators. It did not "adopt" any 

specific definition, and the decision fully comports with this Court's well

settled precedent. Moreover, nothing in the Court of Appeals decision 

raises an issue of substantial public importance warranting review. 

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Follows Well-Established 
Statutory Construction Principles 

First Student raises an argument best characterized as "the sky is 

falling," claiming the Court of Appeals decision will have far reaching 
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consequences. In support, First Student repeatedly states that the Court 

"adopted" the Black's Law Dictionary definition. Pet. at 1, 2, 5, 11, and 

14-15. Not so. The Court of Appeals did not adopt a specific definition of 

the term "for hire." As explained below, it gave great weight to the 

Department's longstanding interpretation only after determining that "for 

hire" is subject to more than one reasonable interpre~ation and is therefore 

ambiguous. Because the Court of Appeals decision is strictly limited to 

interpreting the ambiguous phrase in the context of taxation of school bus 

operators, its interpretation of "for hire" will have no bearing on the 

meaning of "for hire" in unrelated factual contexts. See Pet. at 14-16. 

First Student also is wrong in contending that courts may look 

"only to the holdings of cases" to determine the common law meaning of 

legal terms. Pet. at 8. Countless cases from this Court have instructed 

courts to consider dictionary definitions in ascertaining the meanings of 

undefined statutory terms. See, e.g. LaCoursiere v. Camwest Dev., Inc., 

181 Wn.2d 734,339 P.3d 963 (2014) (reviewing Webster's and Black's 

Law Dictionary to define "rebate"); Alliance One Receivables Mgmt. v. 

Lewis, 180 Wn.2d 389,395,325 P.3d 904 (2014) (analyzing Black's Law 

Dictionary to define the term "recover"); Burton v. Lehman, 153 Wn.2d 

416, 423-25; 103 P.3d 1230 (2005) (applying definitions of "transfer" and 

"delivery" from Webster's and Black's Law Dictionary). 
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Even the Court of Appeals case First Student cites provides that 

"[i]f a term is not defined in a statute, the court may look to common law 

or a dictionary for the definition." McKenna v. Harrison Mem. Hosp., 92 

Wn. App. 119, 122,960 P.2d 486 (1998) (citing State v. Pacheco, 125 

Wn.2d 150, 154, 882 P.2d 183 (1994)) (emphasis added). In that case, 

which involved a statutory scheme preempting common law products 

liability, the Court explained that "courts still rely on the common law for 

the meaning of undefined statutory terms." McKenna, 92 Wn. App. at 122. 

Nothing in the Court's discussion held that common law is the only basis 

upon which courts can rely in determining the meaning of statutory terms. 

This Court's precedent makes clear that courts undoubtedly may 

resort to dictionaries to ascertain the plain meaning of an undefined 

statutory term. Further guidance on that principle is not necessary. 

B. The Court of Appeals Relied on Settled Case Law that Courts 
May Review Dictionaries to Ascertain if a Term Is Ambiguous 

The Court of Appeals also followed established Supreme Court 

precedent when, in the absence of a statutory definition, it looked to 

possible meanings of the term "for hire" in both general purpose and legal 

dictionaries. Relying on City of Spokane ex. rel. Wastewater Management 

Departmentv. Department of Revenue, 145 Wn.2d 445,454, 38 P.3d 1010 

(2002), the Court explained that "when a term has a well-accepted, 
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ordinary meaning, a general purpose dictionary may be consulted to 

establish the term's definition." First Student, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 866. The 

Court of Appeals cited the same case to explain, "[W]hen a technical term 

is used in a technical field, the term should be given its technical meaning 

by using a technical rather than a general purpose dictionary to determine 

the term's definition." Id. 

Here, the Court of Appeals analyzed a number of dictionaries in 

evaluating the meaning of "for hire." It correctly noted that the general 

purpose dictionaries at the time of the statutory amendments "do not have 

a plain language definition of the phrase 'for hire'; instead they contain 

separate definitions of the terms 'for' and 'hire."' First Student, 4 Wn. 

App. 2d at 867. In reviewing these general purpose definitions, the Court 

recognized that "the ordinary meaning of the term 'for hire' at the time the 

statute was drafted could be understood as effecting the engagement or 

purchase oflabor or services for compensation or wages." Id. 

Following longstanding precedent from this Court, the Court of 

Appeals also reviewed the Black's Law Dictionary definition to consider 

the term's familiar legal or technical meaning. Id. at 868 ( citing Cashmere, 

181 Wn.2d at 634). At the time the Legislature amended the PUT statute 

in 1955, Black's Law Dictionary defined "for hire or reward" as follows: 

"[T]o transport passengers or property of other persons than owner or 
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operator of the vehicle for a reward or stipend, to be paid by such 

passengers, or persons for whom such property is transported, to owner or 

operator." First Student, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 868 (citing Black's Law 

Dictionary 773 (4th ed. 1951)).2 The Court noted that a fair reading of this 

particular definition, which it accepted as the "legal ( or technical) meaning 

of the term at the time the statute was drafted," makes clear that the 

compensation or remuneration paid to transport passengers was to be paid 

by such passengers. First Student, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 868.3 

Thus, based on its review of the statutory language and context of 

the PUT definitions, the Court of Appeals concluded: "the statute remains 

susceptible of more than one reasonable meaning: Accordingly, we hold 

that the term 'for hire' is ambiguous and tum to the resolution of that 

ambiguity." Id. at 871. 

2 That defmition remained largely unchanged for four decades. CP 373-78. 
(Black's Law Dictionary 773 (4th rev. ed. 1968); Black's Law Dictionary 585 (5th ed. 
1979); Black's Law Dictionary 651 (6th ed. 1990)). 

3 A 1956 Attorney General Opinion further supports considering the defmition 
of"for hire" from Black's Law Dictionary. AGO 1956 No. 242. In advising local school 
boards on deciding where their buses may travel, the Attorney General explained, "No 
charge may be made of the passengers. School buses are licensed upon a tax-exempt 
basis under RCW 46.16.020. To charge a fare would cause such vehicles to acquire a 'for 
hire' status as defined by RCW 46.04.190." Id. While earlier Attorney General Opinions 
had concluded that school buses needed to obtain a "for hire license" under an earlier 
broad definition of the term "for hire," those opinions were criticized and may have 
prompted the Legislature's 1937 amendment to exclude school buses operating 
exclusively under a contract to a school district from the definition of "for hire vehicle." 
See AGO 1931-32 at 342, AGO 1919-20 at 180-81; Laws of 1937, ch. 188, §§ 1, 22. 

10 



The soundness of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that "for hire" 

is ambiguous is bolstered by the fact that these definitions do not represent 

the entire universe of potential definitions. For example, the trial court 

construed the term "for hire" to mean "that there is a responsibility for 

individual passengers;" in other words, "for hire on an individual seat 

basis." CP 287. In addition, the Utilities and Transportation Commission 

defines the term as "transportation offered to the general public for 

compensation." WAC 480-51-020(7). The services First Student provides 

to school districts are neither based on individual passengers nor offered to. 

the general public, and thus under these additional definitions, First 

Student is not providing its transportation services "for hire." 

In addition, in a number of cases appellate courts have 

distinguished school buses from "for hire" vehicles. For example, a New

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